I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Respondent Group Health Cooperative ("GHC"),' the defendant in

the trial court, is a nonprofit Health Maintenance Organization ("HMO")

that provides coverage for healthcare and other services to its subscribers

and their eni-olled dependents ("Members"). GHC submits this petition

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) and asks that the Court grant GHC's Petition for

Review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In a published, unanimous decision filed on October 9, 2017

("Opinion"), the Court of Appeals, Division One, reversed the trial court's

ruling granting GHC's motion for summary judgment, finding: (1) that the

Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD"), RCW ch. 49.60,

"forbids sex discrimination in places of public accommodation;" and (2)

that Appellant Christopher H. Floeting ("Floeting"), the plaintiff below,

had created a question of fact as to whether he was sexually harassed by

a GHC employee at a GHC healthcare facility, i.e., a place of public

accommodation, "to overcome Group Health's request for summary

judgment dismissal of his lawsuit." Opinion at 1.

' Effective February 1, 2017, GHC was acquired by Kaiser
Foundation Health Plan of Washington and, as of February 14, 2017, has
been renamed Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington.



III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

GHC does not seek review of the Court of Appeals holding that

"Washington's antidiscrimination law ... prohibits sexual harassment in

places of public accommodation," Opinion at 1, or the remand based on

the record. GHC seeks review of the test imposed by the Court of Appeals

to determine when a place of public accommodation is liable for sexual

harassment by an employee. GHC presents the following issues for this

Court's consideration.

1. Whether RCW 49.60.215 makes the proprietor directly

liable for acts of sexual harassment perpetrated by a non-supervisory

employee against a patron in a place of public accommodation regardless

of whether the proprietor: (a) knew or should have known of the

hai-assment; and (b) took reasonably prompt and adequate corrective

action as provided in Glasgow v Georgia Pacific., 103 Wn.2d 401, 693

P.2d 709 (1985).

2. Whether the test for determining if the discriminatory

conduct complained of causes a patron "to be treated as not welcome,

accepted, desired or solicited" under RCW 49.60.040(14) includes both

subjective and objective elements and consideration of whether the

treatment was severe and pervasive.
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Floeting is a member and patient of GHC. CP 46-49. Fleeting

claims that on numerous occasions between July and September 2012, a

female Patient Access Representative, referred to in the Opinion as "T.T."

to protect her identity,^ sexually harassed him while he was on the GHC

Northgate campus. CP 49, 50.

Floeting lodged a complaint with GHC on September 11, 2012.

CP 129, 131. In it, he detailed one conversation of a sexual nature and

another regarding T.T.'s mental health. Id. An investigation, conducted

pursuant to T.T.'s union contract and involving union representation, was

already under way into T.T.'s interactions with GHC patrons and staff as,

after over a decade of employment without complaint, her behavior had

started to concern co-workers and long-time patrons such as Floeting, who

had previously engaged with T.T. without incident. CP 49, 50.

Floeting's complaint was incorporated into the investigation,

which ultimately determined, among other things, that T.T. had behaved

unprofessionally, warranting her termination. CP 64, 143-44. GHC

terminated T.T. two weeks after Floeting's complaint, on September 25,

2012, for violations of various GHC policies. CP 108.

^ As T.T. is not a party to the lawsuit, the parties agreed to refer to
her as T.T. to protect her identity. CP 131.
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In 2015, Floeting filed a lawsuit in King County Superior Court

against GHC, alleging that GHC was liable to him for damages for sexual

harassment stemming from his alleged encounters with T.T. See Opinion

at 2-3. GHC moved for summary judgment, asking the court to dismiss

the claim on grounds that, although Floeting may have experienced

inappropriate conduct on the part of T.T. (the most egregious of which he

never reported or raised until his lawsuit), Floeting did not have an

actionable claim for sexual harassment. The trial court agreed and granted

GHC's motion. The underlying appeal arose from the trial court's order.

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the factors under which the Supreme Court

will accept review. The Supreme Court will accept review if: (1) the

Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme

Court; (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a

published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) a significant question of

law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United

States is involved; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is in Conflict with a Decision
of the Supreme Court.

If the Court of Appeals' decision is allowed to stand, it will

establish two different standards for liability of business owners in cases

-4-



involving sexual harassment perpetrated by a non-supervisory employee,

depending upon who the victim is: (I) a "direct" liability standard for

sexual harassment directed at a patron in a place of public

accommodation; and (2) an imputed liability standard for sexual

harassment directed at an employee in the workplace or a tenant in a real

estate transaction.^ The public policy behind the WLAD is the same in all

cases and there is no reasonable legal basis for creating a double standard

based on the status of the individual against whom the discriminatory act

is directed.

1. The Court of Appeals improperly rejected the imputed liability
standard established in Glasgow v. Georgia-Pacific.

The same public policy underlies the WLAD provisions in

employment and public accommodation settings. RCW 49.60.030(l)(a),

(b). Sexual harassment of employees violates RCW 49.60.180(3) when it

acts as "a barrier to sexual equality in the workplace." Glasgow, 103 Wn.2d

at 405. The Court of Appeals, relying on Glasgow and Tafoya v. Human

Rights Comm'n, 111 Wn. App. 216, 223-25 (2013), recognized the same

barrier to sexual equality, and a violation of RCW 49.60.215, when a patron

in a place of public accommodation is sexually harassed. Opinion at 5-6.

In Glasgow, the Supreme Court established an imputed liability

See Tafoya v. Human Rights Comm 'n. 111 Wn. App. 216 (2013).
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standard that applies when determining whether an employer can be held

liable for sexual harassment perpetrated by a non-supervisory employee.

This doctrine fits the precise situation here, except that the employee,

instead of harassing a co-worker, allegedly harassed a patron.

To establish a claim under Glasgow, a plaintiff must prove, among

other elements, that the harassment can be imputed to the employer. 103

Wn.2d at 406-07. This standard absolves an employer from liability if it

takes adequate remedial action. As Glasgow holds:

To hold an employer responsible for the discriminatory work
environment created by a plaintiffs supervisor(s) or co-worker(s),
the employee must show that the employer (a) authorized, knew, or
should have known of the harassment and (b) failed to take
reasonably prompt and adequate corrective action. This may be
shown by proving (a) that complaints were made to the employer
tlirough higher managerial or supervisory personnel or by proving
such a pervasiveness of sexual harassment at the workplace as to
create an inference of the employer's knowledge or constructive
knowledge of it and (b) that the employer's remedial action was
not of such nature as to have been reasonably calculated to end the
harassment.

Id. at 407.

As the Supreme Court noted in Glasgow, "we view tlie essential

purpose of the cause of action [for sexual discrimination], which we herein

recognize, to be preventive in nature." 103 Wn.2d at 407-08. The Court of

Appeals agreed, stating that the purpose of the WLAD is "to deter and

eradicate discrimination." Opinion at 9.

-6-



The identical policy that underlies Glasgow cannot be distinguished

from the instant case and directly informs the question of liability for a

rank-and-file employee's harassment of a patron in a place of public

accommodation, Unlike the actors in State v. Arlene's Flowers, Inc., 187

Wn.2d 804, 389 P.3d 543 (2017), and Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth., 128

Wn.2d 618, 911 P.2d 1319 (1996), where "the alleged discriminatory

actions were the official acts of those who were in control of the public

accommodation" (Opinion at 8), the actions that form the basis of

Floeting's claim were allegedly those of a non-supervisory employee.

However, the Court of Appeals created a distinction, contrary to Glasgow,

that finds no support in governing law or the WLAD.

After citing Glasgow in support of its finding that "(s)exual

harassment is a form of sex discrimination" (Opinion at 5), the Court

rejected Glasgow out of hand when analyzing GHC's liability, stating:

"[T]he basis for the court's decision [in Glasgow] has no applicability to

Floeting's claim." Opinion at 18.

After rejecting Glasgow, the Court of Appeals turned to the plain

language of RCW 49.60.215 as authority for imposing "direct"

(automatic) liability on public accommodation employers for the

discriminatory actions of their employees. Specifically, the Court focused

on that statute's first sentence: "It shall be an unfair practice for any
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person or the person's agent or employee to commit" an act of

discrimination in a place of public accommodation. Opinion at 5.

The Court noted that the definition of "person" in ROW

49.60.040(19) includes the "employee" and the "owner." It found that this

evidenced the legislature's intent to make "both the employer/proprietor of

a public accommodation and that 'person's' employee/agent ... directly

liable for" the employee's actions, without regard for the established

imputed liability standard set forth in Glasgow or the doctrines of

vicarious liability or respondeat superior applied in employment cases:

[W]e read section .215 as setting forth a system of direct liability
whereby an employer is directly responsible for its official unfair
practices and the unfair practices of its agents and employees.

Opinion at 11-12 (emphasis added).''

The Court failed to recognize that the statute at issue in Glasgow

also confers direct liability on an employer/owner; "It is an unfair practice

for any employer. . . [t]o discriminate against any person in compensation

or in other terms or conditions of employment because of ... sex." RCW

49.60.180(3). The definition of "employer" includes "any person acting in

the interest of an employer, directly or indirectly," i.e., an employee.

RCW 49.60.040(11). Thus, the language of both RCW 49.60.180 and

There was no evidence in the record, and none cited by the Court,
that GHC committed any "official unfair practices."
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RCW 49.60.215, which proscribe the same behavior, provide that an

employer may be "directly" liable for an employee's unfair acts.

Washington courts uniformly have held as a matter of law that an

employee's intentional sexual misconduct is not within the scope of

employment.^ "Neither current Washington case law nor considerations

of public policy favor the imposition of respondeat superior or strict

liability for an employee's intentional sexual misconduct." C.J.C., 138

Wn.2d at 720. The only exception to this well-established rule is

Glasgow, which holds that an employer is liable if the conduct is either

perpetuated by a manager/supervisor or, in the case of a non-supervisory

employee, if the company knew or should have known of the conduct, but

failed to take specific remedial action.

The Court of Appeals admitted the cases it relied on, Arlene's

Flowers and Fell, involved conduct by the principals of the businesses

involved, not lower-level employees such at T.T. Thus, "There was no

^ See C.J.C. V. Corp. of Catholic Bishop ofYakima, 138 Wn.2d
669, 718-20, 985 P.2d 262 (1999); Niece v. Elmview Group Home, 131
Wn.2d 39, 53-59, 939 P.2d 420 (1997) (staff member at a group home
sexually assaulted a disabled woman); Smith v. Sacred Heart Med. Clr.,
144 Wn. App 537, 543, 184 P.3d 646 (2008) (nursing assistant at hospital
engaged in sexual activity with former psychiatric patients); Bratton v.
Valkins, 73 Wn. App 492, 498-501, 870 P.2d 981 (1994) (teacher engaged
in a sexual relationship with a student); Thompson v. Everett Clinic, 71
Wn. App. 548, 550-53, 860 P.2d 1054 (1993) (staff physician at clinic
engaged in sexual activity with patients).



question but that, if the acts were wrongful, the corporations were liable."

Opinion at 11. Therefore, the cases never addressed the question of how

or whether to impute the employee's actions to the employer.

But Glasgow reached that issue. Glasgow is the law in

Washington and the federal authorities on which the Supreme Court relied

do not undermine its sound decision or preclude Glasgow's application in

similar situations. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' ruling, Glasgow

applies seamlessly here.

A case out of New York, Totem Taxi v. N.Y. St. Human Rights

Appeal Bd., 480 N.E.2d 1075 (1985), demonstrates the proper method for

analyzing RCW 49.60.215(1) and the definition of "person" under RCW

49.60.040(19). New York's statute governing discrimination in places of

public accommodation, NY CLS Exec § 296(2)(a), makes it unlawful for

any person, defined as, among others, the "owner," "manager," "agent or

employee of any place of public accommodation ... to refuse, withhold

from or deny" a person of a protected class "any of the accommodations."

Totem Taxi concerned whether a cab company was liable under

§ 296 for the racial slurs and threats directed by its employee (a taxi

driver) at four African-Americans who entered his cab. In overruling the

Board, the court found the Board did not prove that Totem Taxi approved

of, or acquiesced in, the driver's conduct, and therefore was not liable. In
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so ruling, the court rejected the Board's position "that a different and more

demanding rule," e.g., the Court of Appeals' decision here, should be

applied, and seamlessly applied a Glasgow-like rule. 480 N.E.2d at 1076.

Parsing § 296, the court noted that the statute applies to any

person, including the owner or the employee, but that the statute did not

also provide that "a person who employs one who commits a

discriminatory act is also guilty of a violation irrespective of fault." Id. at

1077, This accurately describes RCW 49.60.215. The court then held;

(The statute) separately identifies the owner or proprietor and the
employee as persons independently subject to the statute and
expressly imposes liability only on the person who actually
commits the discriminatory act. Thus the employer cannot be held
liable for an employee's discriminatory act unless the employer
became a party to it by encouraging, condoning, or approving it.

Id. (emphasis added). This same, precise analysis applies here.

2. The Court ofAppeals failed to justijy different standards of
employer liability in the workplace versus places of public
accommodation.

The Court of Appeals maintains Glasgow does not apply because it

concerns a claim of sexual harassment in the workplace, under RCW

49.60.180(3), as opposed to a place of public accommodation under RCW

49.60.215. The Court's key distinction is that "RCW 49.60.215 does not

contain 'terms and conditions' of employment language." Opinion at 20.

The Court explained that because it is the employer who sets the terms and
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conditions of employment, the employer violates the WLAD when it

makes subjugation to sexual harassment a term or condition of

employment. The Court did not explain how this justifies the imputed

liability standard set forth in Glasgow. Nor did it address the fact that a

proprietor of a place of public accommodation likewise sets the terms and

conditions of how to treat its patrons, and can violate the WLAD when it

makes subjugation to sexual harassment part of that treatment. The Court

simply failed to address how the absence of the phrase "terms and

conditions" in RCW 49.60.215 renders a proprietor automatically liable

for an employee's sexual harassment of a patron.

The Court of Appeals' defense of its statutory interpretation and

disregard of Glasgow, boils down to a few sound bites, including:

•  "[PJati'ons must receive the protection envisioned by the
WLAD." Opinion at 8.

•  "[T]he legislature sought to eliminate all acts of sexual
harassment in places of public accommodation and that the
statute should not be construed so as to leave any patron
victimized by such a discriminatory act without a remedy."
Opinion at 9.

•  "[T]he legislature chose to fight discrimination in public
accommodations by making employers directly responsible for
their agents' and employees' conduct." Opinion at 12
(impliedly rejecting Glasgow's remedial standard).

•  "Considering the goal of the statute—to eradicate discrimination
in places of public accommodation—it makes sense that the
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legislature would not want agency principles ... to frustrate its
goal." Opinion at 12.

Each of the above statements also applies equally to sexual

harassment in the workplace. In an apparent reference to GlasgoM>, the

Court of Appeals took a swing at the remedial action/imputed liability

standard and announced a contrary rule:

[B]y imposing direct liability on business proprietors for the
actions of their employees/agents, the legislation serves its
purpose. Direct liability makes the proprietor liable for all acts of
sexual harassment occurring on its premises—including the first.
A scheme relying on agency principles would have no such virtue.
Instead, it would require the proprietor to have prior knowledge of
the harassment before liability could attach.® The first act of
discrimination would be without liability—a "one free bite" rule
directly at odds with the goal of this antidiscrimination enactment.
Nothing in the wording of the legislation or the legislature's
statement of puipose indicates that such a "one free bite" rule was
contemplated by the law's drafters.^

Opinion at 13 (emphasis in original).

Yet, under its established imputed liability standard, the Supreme

Court in Glasgow saw fit not to impose automatic liability for an

emplo)'ee's unfair act. 103 Wn.2d at 407. The Court of Appeals,

conversely, construed the purpose of the cause of action for sexual

® The court does not explain how an employer could have "prior
knowledge" of harassment before it occurs.

^ And, yet, we have Glasgow's remedial action standard, despite
the fact that "nothing in the wording of RCW 49.60.180 or the
"legislature's statement of purpose" makes any indication of or reference
to allowing an employer to avoid liability by taking adequate and
immediate remedial action.
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harassment in a place of public accommodation to ensure a legal

"remedy."^ There is no principled reason for this distinction.

Where the employer meets Glasgow's remedial action standard,

there is no liability. This simply cannot be reconciled with the Court of

Appeals' decision, which bemoans the possibility that "many acts of

sexual harassment (would) be without a remedy against the proprietor" of

a place of public accommodation. Opinion at 13. Yet, the Court accurately

describes the circumstances of Floeting's initial complaint to GHC and

T.T.'s termination (Opinion at 2) that demonstrate GHC's adequate and

effective remedial action, as well as preventive measures, including proper

training and procedures. In such cases, Glasgow finds no remedy:

As the fourth element of the cause of action makes clear, an
employer may ordinarily avoid liability by taking prompt and
adequate corrective action when it learns that an employee is being
sexually harassed.

103 Wn.2dat408.

As noted, the Court of Appeals' incongruous holding creates a

double standard and puts cases of sexual harassment in places of public

^ The Court contends the direct liability test serves to prevent
sexual harassment in places of public accommodation, asserting that
"discrimination is foreseeable" and that an employer can avoid liability by
tightening hiring practices, training and policies. Opinion at 16. The
Court does not explain how such preventative measures, all of which were
taken by GHC, could have prevented the conduct of T.T., a long-time
employee with a clean record, apparently suffering a mental breakdown.
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accommodation on a different plane than cases of sexual harassment in the

workplace. The Court of Appeals' justification for creating this double

standard is its belief that incidents of sexual harassment or other forms of

discrimination occurring in places of public accommodation are "fleeting."

Opinion at 12-13. Yet, there is no citation to any source for this proposition

and it is inconsistent with the facts here. Floeting had been a long-time

patient at the GHC Northgate campus, had known T.T. for years and her

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