FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
12/8/2017 2:22 PM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

No. 95205-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

**CHRISTOPHER H. FLOETING,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE,**

**Petitioner.**

---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Hank Balson, WSBA #29250  
Wendy W. Chen, WSBA #37593  
Attorneys for Respondent

Public Interest Law Group, PLLC  
705 Second Ave., Suite 1000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 838-1800

##

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

### **ARGUMENT**

Contrary to Group Health's arguments, the Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Glasgow v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.* *Glasgow* established what an employee must prove in order to hold an employer liable for harassment by a coworker. This case, on the other hand, addresses a company's liability for harassment by one of its employees against a customer in a place of public accommodation. The different situations are governed by different statutes. The *Glasgow* decision was based on the language of one provision of the WLAD, while the ruling in this case was based on the language of another. The difference in the decisions reflects the difference in the statutes, not a deviation from judicial precedent.

The opinion below also does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in *Evergreen Sch. Dist. v. Wash. State Human Rights Comm'n*, 39 Wn. App. 763, 695 P.2d 999 (1985), as Group Health alleges. Both decisions require courts to use an objective test to determine whether offensive words or actions rise to the level of unlawful harassment. The test articulated by the Court of Appeals in this case requires a jury to decide what a reasonable person would feel under circumstances similar to the plaintiff's. Washington courts have held that this is an objective test.

The decision below is directly tied to the language of the WLAD and does not conflict with any authority from this Court or the Court of Appeals. Although discrimination is certainly an issue of substantial public importance, the lower court's ruling is well-grounded and furthers the WLAD's purpose to deter and eradicate discrimination. The Court should decline review.

**A. The ruling below does not conflict with *Glasgow*.**

Relying directly on the statutory language of the WLAD, the Court of Appeals held that business proprietors are liable for the acts of their employees and agents when those acts result in discrimination, as defined by the statute. Opinion at 11-14. Contrary to Group Health's argument, that holding does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Glasgow v.*

*Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, as *Glasgow* involved a different statute than the one at issue here.

*Glasgow* was an employment sexual harassment case. RCW 49.60.180(3) makes it illegal for “any employer . . . [t]o discriminate against any person in compensation or in other terms or conditions of employment because of . . . sex.” In *Glasgow*, the plaintiffs sought damages from their corporate employer for harm they suffered as a result of a coworker’s sexual harassment. Since the statute only addressed unfair practices by an “employer,” this Court had to decide under what circumstances a hostile work environment created by a coworker could be attributed to the employer. The Court held as follows:

To hold an employer responsible for the discriminatory work environment created by a plaintiff’s supervisor(s) or co-worker(s), the employee must show that the employer (a) authorized, knew, or should have known of the harassment and (b) failed to take reasonably prompt and adequate corrective action.

*Glasgow*, 103 Wn.2d at 407.

In contrast, the statute at issue here is RCW 49.60.215 (unfair practices of places of public resort, accommodation, etc.). That statute provides, in part:

It shall be an unfair practice for any person *or the person’s agent or employee* to commit an act which directly or indirectly results in any distinction, restriction, or discrimination . . . in any place of public resort,



accommodation, assemblage, or amusement, except for conditions and limitations established by law and applicable to all persons, regardless of . . . sex . . . .

RCW 49.60.215(1) (emphasis added). The term “person” is broadly defined to include individuals, partnerships, corporations, cooperatives, owners, proprietors, managers, agents, employees, and others. RCW 49.60.040(19). In other words, in a place of public accommodation, any person, including a business, engages in an unfair practice when the person or its agent or employee discriminates against a patron.

The Court of Appeals explained the significance of the statute’s wording as follows:

It is an unfair practice for “any person or the person’s agent or employee” to commit a forbidden act. *See* RCW 49.60.215(1). This language attributes responsibility for the agent’s or employee’s discriminatory act to the “person” (employer) without mention of the doctrines of vicarious liability or respondeat superior. In this way, the legislature chose to fight discrimination in public accommodations by making employers directly responsible for their agents’ and employees’ conduct.

Opinion at 12. If the legislature did not intend to make businesses liable for the discriminatory acts of their employees, there would have been no reason for it to include the phrase “or the person’s agent or employee” in the first sentence of the statute. If the intent was merely to let the reader know that an individual store employee, for example, could be personally liable for discriminating, the legislature could have accomplished that by

stating simply that it is an unfair practice “for any person” to commit a forbidden act, the construction it chose for cases involving employment discrimination. *See* RCW 49.60.180. (“It is an unfair practice for any employer to . . . .”) The definition of “person” itself makes clear that individual agents and employees are already subject to the rule, so the phrase “or the person’s agent or employee” would be redundant. Such a reading of the statute would violate the well-established principle that courts must give meaning to every word in a statute and avoid rendering any language superfluous. *See Seattle v. Williams*, 128 Wn.2d 341, 349, 908 P.2d 359 (1995); *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003) (“Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous.”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). If the Court gives meaning to every word in the statute and avoids redundancy, the only reasonable reading of RCW 49.60.215(1) is that a “person” (Group Health in this case) is liable for its own discriminatory acts, as well as the discriminatory acts of its agents and employees. To the extent Group Health believes that the same liability standards should apply in public accommodation cases as in employment cases, their arguments are better directed to the legislature, which has the authority to rewrite the statute.

Group Health’s reliance on the *Totem Taxi*, a New York case from over thirty years ago, is misplaced, as the New York statute at issue in that case was different than the Washington statute at issue here. The New York statute prohibiting discrimination in public accommodations applied to “any person, being the owner, lessee, proprietor, manager, superintendent, agent or employee of any place of public accommodation.” *Totem Taxi v. N.Y. State Human Rights Appeal Bd.*, 65 N.Y.2d 300, 305, 491 N.Y.S.2d 293, 295, 480 N.E.2d 1075, 1077 (N.Y. 1985). In other words, the statute applied to “any person,” which was defined to include owners, proprietors, agents, employees, etc. In contrast, the Washington legislature did not merely define a person liable under the statute to include these categories; it also made a person liable for unfair practice committed by “the person’s agent or employee.” RCW 49.60.215. Since Washington’s public accommodation statute is different than New York’s, it is not surprising that the Court of Appeals’ conclusion in this case is different than the decision in *Totem Taxi*.

Finally, the Petitioner’s reference to cases holding that an employee’s sexual misconduct does not fall within the scope of his or her employment is not on point. *See* Pet. at 9. All five cases cited by Group Health dealt with liability for claims governed by common-law tort theories. Liability in this case, however, is based on statute. Therefore,

common-law principles do not govern. *See Nast v. Michels*, 107 Wn.2d 300, 312, 730 P.2d 54 (1986) (“[U]nambiguous statutes are to be read in conformity with their obvious meaning, *without regard to previous common law.*”) (emphasis in original).

This Court has held that the purpose of the WLAD is to deter and eradicate discrimination in Washington. *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn.2d 97, 109, 922 P.2d 43 (1996). The legislature has directed that “[t]he provisions of [the WLAD] . . . be construed liberally for the accomplishment of the purposes thereof,” and that courts “view with caution any construction that would narrow the coverage of the law.” RCW 49.60.020. Viewed in this light, and with the requirement to give all words in the statute meaning and avoid redundancy, RCW 49.60.215 can only be read to make businesses and other “persons” responsible for the discriminatory acts of their agents and employees. Since the lower court’s ruling is tied specifically to the statute governing public accommodation discrimination, it does not conflict with *Glasgow* and does not require review.

**B. The ruling below does not conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals.**

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with the ruling in *Evergreen Sch. Dist. v. Wash. State Human Rights Comm’n*, as Group

Health contends. *See* Pet. at 15-19. Both cases require a plaintiff in a public accommodation case to establish discrimination according to an objective standard.

Quoting *Evergreen*, the lower court explicitly acknowledged that actionable discrimination requires something more than “mere rhetoric that is subjectively offensive to a particular person.” Opinion at 15 (quoting *Evergreen*, 39 Wn. App. at 772-73).

To determine what constitutes unlawful discrimination, the Court of Appeals relied directly on the language of the WLAD. Opinion at 14-15. RCW 49.60.215(1) declares it to be an “unfair practice” (i.e., illegal) for “any person or the person’s agent or employee to commit an act which directly or indirectly results in any distinction, restriction, or discrimination” in a place of public accommodation. RCW 49.60.030(1)(b) provides that the right to be free from unlawful discrimination includes “[t]he right to the full enjoyment of any of the accommodations, advantages, facilities, or privileges of any place of public resort, accommodation, assemblage, or amusement.” The legislature defined “full enjoyment” to include:

The right to purchase any service, commodity, or article of personal property offered or sold on, or by, any establishment to the public, and the admission of any person to accommodations, advantages, facilities, or privileges of any place of public resort, accommodation,

assemblage, or amusement, without acts directly or indirectly causing persons of any particular . . . sex . . . to be treated as not welcome, accepted, desired, or solicited.

RCW 49.60.040(14).

Synthesizing the statutory terms and the need for an objective standard by which to judge unlawful discrimination, the Court of Appeals held as follows:

To be actionable, the asserted discriminatory conduct must be objectively discriminatory. By this we mean that it must be of a type, or to a degree, that a reasonable person who is a member of the plaintiff's protected class, under the same circumstances, would feel discriminated against (as described in subsections .040(14) and .215(1)).

Opinion at 16. "This is an objective standard." *Id.* See also *State v. Trey M.*, 186 Wn.2d 884, 888, 383 P.3d 474 (2016) (identifying the "reasonable person" standard as an objective test); *State v. Heritage*, 152 Wn.2d 210, 217, 95 P.3d 345 (2004) (same).

GHC objects to the court's use of the word "feel" in articulating the standard, arguing that that word somehow transforms the objective standard into a subjective one. Pet. at 15-18. Group Health is wrong. Objective legal standards often ask a jury to determine how a reasonable person would feel (or what she or he would believe) under circumstances similar to the plaintiff's. See, e.g., *State v. Harrington*, 167 Wn.2d 656, 663, 222 P.3d 92 (2009) (In evaluating whether a "seizure" has occurred

under article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution, “[t]he relevant question is whether a reasonable person in the individual’s position would *feel* he or she was being detained.” This standard is a “purely objective one.”) (emphasis added; citations omitted); *State v. Heritage*, 152 Wn.2d at 217 (“We determine applicability of constitutional protections by an objective test: the *belief* of a reasonable person in the defendant’s position.”) (emphasis added; citation omitted); *Barnett v. Sequim Valley Ranch*, 174 Wn. App. 475, 485, 302 P.3d 500 (2013) (“To establish constructive discharge, an employee must show that an employer engaged in a deliberate act, or a pattern of conduct, that made working conditions so intolerable that a reasonable person would have *felt* compelled to resign. . . . This is an objective standard . . . .”) (emphasis added; citations omitted).

Group Health incorrectly asserts that the Court of Appeals’ ruling leaves businesses vulnerable to liability for any offensive conduct by an employee, no matter how trivial. Pet. at 18-19 (“Focusing on feelings and eliminating the constructs of severity or pervasiveness provide[s] no real distinction between merely annoying and illegal conduct.”). To the contrary, the court explicitly noted, “[I]t is not enough that some hasty, chance or inadvertent word or action may offend or even make one *feel* unwelcome.” Opinion at 15 (quoting *Evergreen*, 39 Wn. App. at 772-73)

(emphasis in original). Rather, the asserted discriminatory conduct “must be of a type, or to a degree, that a reasonable person who is a member of the plaintiff’s class, under the same circumstances, would feel discriminated against (as described in subsections .040(14) and .215(1)).” *Id.* at 16. The fact that the court did not use the phrase “severe or pervasive” (a phrase applicable in employment harassment cases) in formulating the test does not make the test subjective. The “reasonable person” test, formulated for judging public accommodation harassment cases, necessarily requires a plaintiff to demonstrate discriminatory conduct that is sufficiently egregious that a reasonable person in the plaintiff’s class would feel discriminated against, as defined by the statute. To the extent isolated words or inadvertent conduct would not be considered “severe or pervasive” in the employment context, they likely would not cause a “reasonable person” to feel unwelcome, unaccepted, or otherwise discriminated against in a public accommodation.

GHC’s reference to the court’s discussion of a subjective standard is not persuasive. *See* Pet. at 17-18. Acknowledging that the WLAD provides a cause of action for “[a]ny person *deeming himself or herself injured* by any act in violation of this chapter,” the Court of Appeals held that “the cause of action afforded by subsection .030(2) includes both an objective and subjective component.” Opinion at 16 (emphasis in



original). Therefore, in *addition* to proving discrimination according to an objective standard, a plaintiff also “must establish the plaintiff’s *subjective* perception of being discriminated against by the act of sexual harassment.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). In other words, in addition to proving that a reasonable person would have felt discriminated against by the defendant’s conduct, a plaintiff also must prove the he or she *personally* felt discriminated against. Similarly, this Court in *Glasgow* held that a plaintiff must show that s/he subjectively “regarded the conduct as undesirable or offensive” in order to sustain a claim for sexual harassment in employment. 103 Wn.2d at 406. Rather than diminish the plaintiff’s burden of proof, this requirement increases it.

The lower court ruling requires plaintiffs to prove claims of public accommodation harassment by both an objective and subjective standard. The ruling is consistent with *Evergreen* and does not warrant review by this Court.

### **CONCLUSION**

The Court of Appeals opinion is grounded in the WLAD provisions that apply specifically to public accommodations. Since the language of these provisions is different from the language used in the provisions governing employment discrimination, it is not surprising that judicial test for public accommodation harassment formulated by the

lower court in this case is not identical to the test for employment harassment established in *Glasgow*. The two cases do not conflict.

The decision below requires plaintiffs like Rev. Floeting to prove unlawful harassment according to an objective standard, based on how a reasonable person would perceive the allegedly discriminatory conduct. This is consistent with the language of the WLAD and with the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Evergreen*.

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